
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 

NINTH SESSION 
Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 61 : 
The question of \Vest Irian (West New Guinea) 

Page 

(continued) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 435 

Chairman.: Mr. Francisco URRUTIA (Colombia). 

AGENDA ITEM 61 

The question of West Irian (West New Guinea) 
(A/2694, A/C.l/L.l09) (continued) 

1. Mr. RIZK (Lebanon) said he would select a 
number of essential points from the innumerable 
aspects of the problem. First, he would like to express 
Lebanon's sympathy for two countries whose cultural 
and economic achievements it admired, and which had 
fought heroically, one in the Second World War and 
the ,other. in its war of independ~nce. Secondly. Leba
non s attitude would be detenmm·d by its concern, 
as a Member of the United Nations, that the provisions 
of the Charter on the maintenance of peace and security 
should be respected. 
2. The present dispute was a political one that had 
existed bef<?re the Round Table Conference agreements, 
and to whtch reference had been made in article 2 
of the Charter of transfer of sovereignty (S/1417 j 
Add.1); it was not a dispute about the interpretation 
of that charter. After the colonial yoke had been thrown 
off, the Indonesian people had established the inde
pendent Republic of Indonesia which had comprised 
all the territories of the former Nether lands East 
Indies, including West Irian, whose political leader had 
taken part in the national rising. 
3. Indeed article 1, paragraph 1, of the Charter of 
transfer of sovereignty provided for an unconditional 
and irrevocable transfer of complete sovereignty over 
Indonesia. Thus the concept of Indonesia, as defined 
by the Netherlands itself, was in no way restricted 
or qualified, for West Irian had not been mentioned 
separately either in the Nether lands Constitution of 
J 922 or in he revised text of 1948. The fact that 
West Irian had then been an integral part of Indonesia 
was also confirmed by the letter dated 2 March 1949 
addressed by the representative of the Netherlands 
to the President of the Security Council (S/1274), 
announcing the conclusion reached by the Netherlands 
Government: that the best solution of the problem would 
be an accelerated transfer of sovereignty over Indo
nesia to a federal Indonesian government fully repre
sentative of the whole of Indonesia. Similarly, on 22 
December 1948, the representative of the Netherlands 
l1ad said in the Security Council-the statement was 
reproduced in document A/2694 that "what used to be 
the Nether lands East Indies should become an inde
pendent State as soon as possible". The question of 

435 

FIRST COMMITIEE, 733rd 
MEETING 

Monday, 29 November 1954, 
at 3 p.m. 

New York 

the transfer of sovereignty had twice been dealt with 
in the First Committee by the representative of Indo
nesia, and it was enough to recall that the transfer of 
sovereignty had related to the whole of Indonesia. If 
the parties had wished to maintain Nether lands sover
eignty over West Irian they would certainly have said 
so in article 1 of the Charter of transfer, b'ut they had 
not. 

4. It had been held that article 1 should be read 
t~gether with ar~icle ~· But the world "sovereignty" 
thd not appear m arttcle 2. Article 2 therefore did 
not limit the sovereignty de jure transferred under 
;1rticle 1 to the political entity defined as Indonesia. 
In the second place, Indonesia was a national and 
politic~! entity consisting of various groups. The repre
sentative of Ecuador had already (371st meeting) 
described how those elements had been combined by the 
Dutch themselves, who had thus been present at the 
initiation of what was to become the Indonesian State 
the heir to the sovereignty de j11re owr the whole of 
that territory. 

5. Thirdly, article 2 had referred to the residency of 
New Guinea, not to a residency of Nether lands New 
Guinea. In Yirtue, however, of the transfer of sover
eignty effected by article 1, the Netherlands residency 
had become the Indonesian residency of New Guinea. 
Article 2 had not said that the Nether lands reserved 
sovereignty over the residency. Consequently, what had 
been "maintained" under article 2 was only "the status 
quo", in other words, a control de (acto, not Nrthcr
lands sovereignty, over the admi.nistration of the 
residency. In short, the Nether lands had sought, by 
means of article 2, to retain a control de facto, which 
had been the subject of a dispute with Indonesia, as 
was shown bey the words "it ha:, not been possible to 
reconcile the views of the parties", and by the proclama
tion of the principle of settling all disputes between 
the parties "by peaceful and reasonable means". During 
the one-year period provided for in article 2, the parties 
were to determine, by negotiation, not the question of 
sovereignty over West Irian, which had already been 
settled, but the future political status and the adminis
trative system of the residency. 

6. Nevertheless, the parties had never intended that 
the absence of an agreement at the end of the year 
should justify maintenance of Netherlands control, for 
it would have been too easy to refuse to negotiate, or 
to i'teer the talks to an impas~e. In other words. the 
absence of an agreement signified the persistence of a 
dispute relating not to sovereignty but to the right of 
one of the parties to administer \Vest Irian. That 
was the political dispute which had antedated the 
Charter of transfer of sovereignty, a dispute which 
Indonesia was attempting to resolve by applying to the 
General Assembly, and which was certainly not within 
the competence of the International Court of Justice. 
Besides, the General Assembly had asserted its compe
tence by including the item in its agenda. 

A/C.1/SR.733 



136 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

7. Before referring to the Australian representative's 
;,peech (727th meeting), Mr. Rizk wished to recall the 
ties of friendship by which Lebanon was bound to a 
State to which thousands of Lebanese had immigrated. 
Sir Percy Spender had said that the General Assembly 
had never lent its authority to a transfer of territory 
except in Palestine, where, in Sir Percy Spender's 
opinion, there had existed a ",·acuum" of sovereignty. 
1 n reality, the sovereignty which the United Kingdom 
had been exercising owr Palestine when the General 
Assembly had dealt with the problem had passed, on 
the proclamation of the end of the British Mandate, 
to the local population, two-thirds of which had con
sisted of Arabs and one-third of Zionists, and the 
"yanmm" had been merely one of power. It would 
therefore be to the everlasting shame of the United 
Nations that it had not allowed the inhabitants of the 
country to decide for themselves the form of govern
nwnt which they wished to establish. 

8. As for the argument that the matter fell within 
the domestic jurisdiction of the Netherlands, the ques
tion of soven:ignty could certainly not be decided by 
the incorporation of \\'est Irian into the Kingdom of 
the Nether lands under the revised Nether lands Consti
tution of February 1952. Article 73 of the Charter did 
not apply to a people which, like the people of West 
Irian, was sovereign \vithout being free, and the fact 
that the Nether lands submitted reports to the United 
Nations on the territory did not make its title any 
less disputed. The failure of the Netherlands colonial 
administration was apparent from the statement which 
the representative of Australia had made in the General 
Assembly ( 479th meeting), namely, that after more 
than a century, the people of \Vest Irian were still at 
the stage of cannibalism. 

9. The Lebanese delegation considered that there 
existed between the two Gm·ernments a political 
dispute which the efforts based on the Charter of 
transfer of sovereignty had as yet been unable to 
resolw. Nevertheless, Indonesia did not despair of a 
peaceful se>ttlement, fm it had brought its ca~e to the 
United Nations. Moreover, present relations between 
the two parties were founded, not as in Palestine on 
an armistice which could be broken at any moment, but 
on friendship and the provisions of the Charter of 
transfer of sovereignty. That was the agreement which 
\vould be violated by a refusal to negotiate, and such 
a refusal would at the same time contradict the provi
sions of the United Nations Charter. Furthermore, to 
lean· thing~ as they were would entail a threat tn the 
peace, arising not from any action of the Indonesian 
Government but from the reaction of a people still 
jealous of its newly-won freedom. The news dispatches 
from T nclonesia spoke of the mounting tension, the fears 
of the 100.000 Dutch who had remained in the country, 
and the support which all political parties in Indonesia 
were giying the Gowrnment in the matter of \i\1 est 
Irian. 

10. The United Nations vvas therefore bound to leave 
nothing undone to settle a dispute on \vhich Indonesia 
did not ask it to pass judgment; the United Nations 
had only to help to secure the resumption of negotia
tions on the basis of the Round Table Conference 
agreement and the United Nations Charter. The Leba
nese delegation therefore hoped that Indonesia's appeal 
would be heard by the First Committee. 

11. Mr. DEJANY (Saudi Arabia) said that the 
maHer did not come under Article 2, paragraph 7, of 

tlw Charter, because it had arisen out of an interna
tional agreement between t\vo sovereign States who 
had described it in the Charter of transfer of sover
c-ignty as a dispute. If it had been a matter of domestic 
jurisdiction, the Netherlands Government could hardly 
han agreed to make it the subject matter of negotia
tions with another State by such an international agree
ment. 

12. In reply to the second argument, that the Security 
Council was still seized of the matter as an integral 
part of the Indonesian question, it could be stated, 
first, that the matter brought before the Security 
Council had been a military conflict which had ended 
when Indonesia won its complete independence and 
:coYereignty, and, secondly, that the provisions of 
Article 12, paragraph 1, of the Charter, on disputes 
or situations before the Security Council, had not been 
construed very strictly in the case of Palestine or 
Korea, the General Assembly having dealt with certain 
aspects of those questions at a time when the Security 
Council had still been seized of them. 

13. Another point in dispute was whether or not 
\Vest Irian belonged to Indonesia; but both the Consti
tution of the Kingdom of the Netherlands, and the 
Netherlands Gowrnment's 1949 report to the United 
Nations/ had quite clearly established that Indonesia, 
in the political and national sense of the term, com~ 
prised the whole of the former Netherlands East Indies, 
extending from the mainland of Asia to the border be
tween Australian and Nether lands territory. Similarly, 
Mr. Van Royen had stated in the Security Council2 

on 22 December 1948 that "what used to be the 
Nether lands East Indies should become an independent 
State", and that common existence under the Nether
lands Crown had created a sense of Indonesian nation
ality among the seventeen main ethnic and linguistic 
groups of which the population of Indonesia consisted. 
It followed, therefore, that any discussion of ethnic 
or linguistic matters was beside the point, despite the 
existence of many ties of diverse nature between West 
Irian and the rest of Indonesia. Since \Vest Irian 
had been a part of Indonesia before Indonesia became 
independent, and since agreement on Indonesia's unity 
had existed up till 1949, there had been no reason to 
detach it later. The Netherlands motives in changing 
its stand at the end of 1949 and refusing to evacuate 
the territory were quite obvious : they had not wanted 
to withdraw from the area altogether. But the rights 
of Indonesia remained intact. 
14. Moreover, the parties had agreed in article 2 of 
the Charter of transfer of sovereignty that New 
Guinea remained in dispute, and that the status quo 
of the residency of New Guinea should be maintained 
for the time being solely in order that the parties 
might settle their dispute by negotiation. The Nether
lands authority over \Vest Irian had no longer been 
absolute, but subject to the rights and claims of Indo
nesia. It had been specifically required to maintain the 
status quo of the residency of New Guinea pending 
sdtlement of the dispute by negotiation. The refusal 
of the Netherlands to continue negotiations had there
fore constituted a Yiolation of article 2 (f), in the face 
of which Indonesia had had no alternative but to bring 

1 Non-Self-Governing Territories: summaries and analyses 
of information transmitted to the Secretary-General during 
1949, Vol. II, p. 158. United Nations Publication, Sales No.: 
1950 VI.B.l. 

2 See Official Records of the Security Council, Third Year, 
No. 132, 388th meeting. 



733rd meeting - 29 November 1954 437 

:he matter before the United Nations. But that did not 
nean that the dispute had been settled, or that the 
Netherlands could change the status quo upon which 
:hey had agreed. If the General Assembly refused 
:o call upon the parties to resume the negotiations 
. vhich had been broken off, that might almost tanta
nount to an invitation to resort to force. 

L5. Thus the Nether lands had failed to honour its 
~ommitments on two occasions: once in 1952, when it 
1ad annexed West Irian, although it had previously 
tdmitted that a dispute existed concerning the territory 
md undertaken to maintain the status quo ; and again 
.vhen it had refused to continue negotiations, in spite 
)f the agreement concluded under the auspices of the 
United Nations that the dispute should be determined 
)y negotiations. Thus, whatever action the Netherlands 
night take, the dispute would continue until the political 
;tatus of West Irian had been settled by negotiations 
)r by other peaceful means. The one-year time-limit 
1ad been intended only to accelerate the negotiations, 
md not to allow Indonesia's rights to be permanently 
)locked by the Nether lands delaying the conclusion of 
m agreement until the time-limit had expired. To ignore 
:he dispute would be likely to endanger friendly rela
.ions between nations in a very sensitive part of the 
.vorld. The subject was a national issue of great im
)Ortance, and it was not easy to control public opinion 
)Ver such a sensitive issue in Indonesia. Moreover 
10 one would benefit from a hardening of feeling and 
'ncreased bitterness, which only tended to make agree
nent more difficult and to strain relations between the 
:wo Governments. 

L6. Saudi Arabia maintained friendly relations with 
:he Nether lands people as well as with Indonesia, where 
nany of its citizens had settled. It had to be admitted, 
1owever, that the aims of the Nether lands in the 
)resent matter were colonialist aims, despite all the 
trguments which the Nether lands had advanced to 
foment distrust of the Indonesian objectives, such as 
reference to the right of self-determination and the con
ention that West Irian would be better off as a Nether
ands colony than as an integral part of an independent 
State. Such arguments were inconceivable today, when 
1ll kinds of regional pacts were being concluded in 
iifferent parts of the world to safeguard the interests 
)f the peoples and countries of each region and to 
foster the ties of friendship and association between 
:hem. In fact, the benefits of colonialism, which was 
:he antithesis of justice and of the right of sel£-deter
nination, had always been illusory for the indigenous 
)eoples, whose interests had been subordinated to those 
)f the metropolitan country-not to speak of the 
reluctance with which the colonial Powers had agreed 
:o give up their prerogatives. The heyday of colonialism 
.vas past, and it would now be in the interests of the 
~olonizers themselves to speed up the independence of 
he territories under their control. 

17. The right of self-determination in the present 
:ase could be respected by reuniting West Irian with 
[ndonesia, whose achievements had already been so 
mpressive despite the brevity of the period which had 
~lapsed since it had won its independence, the com
plexity of the issues which had confronted it and the 
legacy of destruction wrought by the war. There was 
10 doubt about Indonesia's capacity and ability to guide 
md aid its West Irian brothers along the same lines 
)f progt·ess and development as it had done for the 
rest of the Indonesian people. It was unrealistic to 

assume that the right of the Irianese to self-determina
tion would be better served under Nether lands colonial 
rule, and it was difficult to reconcile the Netherlands 
concern for the Irianese now with its readiness, prior 
to the Round Table Conference, to cede West Irian 
as part of Indonesia . 
18. The Saudi Arabia delegation would vote por the 
Indonesian draft resolution (A/C.1/L.109), considering 
it to be as just as it was reasonable, and in keeping 
with the Charter of transfer of sovereignty agreed 
upon by both parties. 
19. Mr. SERRANO (Philippines) recalled the com
mon experiences of the Nether lands, Indonesia and 
his own country during the Second World War, the 
battles they had fought, their losses of human life and 
their suffering under enemy occupation. The Philip
pines now had equally friendly relations with both 
countries. Moreover, Indonesia was in the South-East 
Asia area, in which the Philippines, in collaboration 
with others, was striving to strengthen security and 
to promote spiritual unity and economic and social co
operation. All three countries shared in United Nations 
activities. 
20. Australia had also shown an unusually strong 
interest in everything relating to a territory which lay 
quite close to it and which could either protect or 
threaten it. A common commitment for mutual defence 
bound Australia in friendly relations with the Philip
pines people. The basis of the Philippine delegation's 
position could be clearly seen in the light of those 
facts. 
21. New Guinea, lying north of Australia and having 
a total area of 850,000 square kilometres, had for 
many years been divided into an eastern portion admi
nistered by Australia and a western portion, adminis
tered by the Nether lands. West Irian had been dis
covered in 1511, and had been a commercial monopoly 
of the Nether lands East India Company in the seven
teenth and eighteenth centuries. At length, in 1898, the 
Nether lands had established its permanent administra
tion at Manokwari, on the north coast, and at Fak 
Fak, on the west cost; in 1902, it had established its 
administration at Merauke, on the south coast. 
22. West Irian had an area of 413,000 square kilo
metres-as large as France and twelve times as large 
as the Nether lands-and an indigenous population of 
about one million inhabitants, mostly Papuan and Mela
nesian. Malarial swamps and jungle covered almost the 
whole area. The territory had remained undeveloped 
and had been impenetrable for three centuries. The 
Nether lands Administration, dating from 1826, had not 
yet penetrated deeply into the country, and more than 
two-thirds of the population had practically no contact 
with it. Indeed, in the information transmitted by the 
Netherlands in 1950,3 reference had been made to 
inhabitants who were still living in the stone age and 
addicted to head-hunting and cannibalism. 
23. The first expedition into the interior of the 
country had taken place in 1907, and in 1935 three oil 
companies, one of them the Dutch New Guinea Oil 
Company, a subsidiary of the Royal Dutch Shell Com
pany, had begun to explore the country on a larger 
scale. It should be added, however, that the building 
of churches, schools and hospitals by Nether lands mis-

3 Non-S elf-Governing Territories: summaries and analyses 
of information transmitted to the Secretary-General during 
1950, Vol. II, appendix I. United Nations Publication, Sales 
No.: 1951.VJ.B.l. 



438 General Assembly Ninth session First Committee 

sionaries, sometimes with the assistance of the Gov
ernment, had begun as early as the beginning of the 
century. In sum, geographical and historical factors 
were partly responsible for the fact that social and 
educational progress had been neither steady nor suf
ficient. 

21. ~ o purpose would be served by restating the 
hrstoncal antecedents of the dispute between the 
N e~herlands and Indonesia. Despite their mutual accu
satwns, however, both parties were not without hope 
that ~urther efforts to reach a peaceful settlement of 
the drspute were possible, in accordance with the prin
ciples of article 2 of the Charter of transfer of 
sovereignty. 

25. The Philippine delegation hoped that it would 
never have to decide on the merits of the conten
tions, based on legal, historical, ethnological and hu
manitarian arguments, which each of the parties had 
advanced. In any event, the draft resolution submitted 
b~ Indonesia (A/C.l/L.l09) did not call upon the Com
mr~!ee to ta~e such a decision, and happily referred 
to co-operatwn between the peoples of Indonesia and 
the Nether lands on the basis of freedom and frit'nd
ship". The Philippine Government hoped that the issue 
would be settled in that spirit of friendship between 
the two countries, which should be preserved; and it 
hoped above all that the inhabitants of West Irian 
would ~nd their place in a free and happy society, what
ever mrght be the result of the negotiations. 

26. The Philippine delegation would therefore support 
the draft resolution so far as it called upon the Gov
ernments to resume negotiations with a view to achiev
ing a peaceful and mutually satisfactory agreement on 
the political status of West Irian, on the basis of free
dom and friendship between the two countries, and to 
promoting the peaceful and orderly development of that 
backward area and the achievement by its benighted 
inhabitants of the political, economic and social welfare 
which they deserved. The Philippine delegation also 
hoped to be able to support the text so far as it 
invoked the good offices of the Secretary-General, or 
any person the Secretary-General might appoint in 
consultation with the parties concerned, with a view 
~o achievi~g an agreement satisfactory to both disput
mg countnes. 

27. It would therefore be advisable for the Indonesian 
delegation to recast and simplify those paragraphs 
which were even remotely capable of being interpreted 
as a prejudgment of the problem or as tainted with 
partiality. That would eliminate the possibility that the 
efforts of the Secretary-General or of the friendly and 
impartial mediator appointed by him might be wasted. 
To ensure the success of good offices or of a mission 
of mediation, a resolution authorizing either had to 
be both friendly and impartial. 

28. The Philippine delegation would be pleased to give 
its support to a resolution which would meet those 
requirements, and hoped that it would then attract the 
votes of other delegations. 
29. Mr. MENON (India) pointed out that his delega
tion had already (728th meeting) stated its general 
approach to the problem and its views on the question 
of the General Assembly's competence. 
30. The issue before the Committee was not a bound
ary dispute, nor was it a question of rival claims to 
a territory existing in a political or historical vacuum, 
but simply a continuation of the question of the Indo-

nesian people's right to national independence. Althouah 
to mention it might seem an. incursion into histo;y, 
the fact was that the Indonesran people had been in 
conflict with its rulers, the matter had been referred to 
the United Nations, and a settlement had been reached. 
The present problem. \v_as in. reality the last chapter 
of .a story of negotJatwns m regard to which the 
Umted Nations had a responsibility, and it must fulfil 
that resl?onsibility in regard to the last chapter too. The 
~ndonesran Government, instead of taking the law into 
rts own hands, had approached the United Nations as 
a loyal Member State; and it would be more appropriate 
to express appreciation of that action than to seek to 
deny that the Assembly was competent to deal with 
the matter. It '"as onlv fair to sav that the N etlwrlands 
while making reservations conc~rning the competenc~ 
of the Assembly, had not refused to take part in the 
discussion. 

3~. Thus both rarties had in some degree recog
mzed that the U mted Nations possessed authority and 
t~a~ the dispt~te, while not justiciable, was open to nego
tratJOn. Admrttedly, that did not necessarily mean that 
the N et~erlands agreed to negotiate as proi)osed in the 
Indonesran draft resolution, but at least no hostilities 
had been opened nor aggression launched; the context 
was one in which the United Nat ions could contribute 
to a peaceful settlement. 

32. In substance, the problem had arist:'n out of a 
series of unilateral actions by the Netherlands. First 
of all, an agreement between the two parties had not 
been put into effect, and the N etherlancls position ap
peared to be that it had expired. Secondly, arguing 
that \Nest Irian \vas part of the Nether lands, the 
Netherlands Government had performed the unilateral 
political act of altering its Constitution to make room 
for a territory which had not previously bem referred 
to in the Constitution. 

33. The Nether lands representative had referred to 
facts which he regarded as precedents. He had main
tained that his country's jurisdiction over West Irian 
was similar to that of the United Kingdom, or of 
India-which at the time had been under British con
trol-over Pakistan or Burma. But in fact, Burma 
India and Pakistan had all been part of the British 
dependency of India. In 1935, the British Parliament, 
the sovereign constitutional authority, had created the 
State of Burma; and in 1947, by the passag-e of the 
Indian Independence Act, it had made Pakistan a 
separate State. Could the Netherlands representative 
mention any comparable legal act by which West Irian 
had been separated from the former Nether lands East 
Indies? The situation was rather that the constitution 
of West Irian as a separate territory forming part of 
the Nether lands was an act ultra ~·ires, in Yiolation of 
the existing agreements. 

34. The supporters of the Nether lands delegation had 
in some instances shown less moderation than the 
Nether lands itself. The Committee had been asked to 
look at the geographical, ethnological, historical and 
linguistic arguments. None of those factors determined 
nationality, but, since they had been mentioned, it could 
be pointed out that Bernard H. M. Vlekke, in his 
Nusantara; a history of the East Indian Archipelago/ 
said that the Netherlands East Indies extended from 
the western point of Sumatra to the Nether lands
Australian boundary in New Guinea. Thus, before the 

4 Harvard University Press, 1943. 



733rd meeting - 29 November 1954 439 

Round Table Conference agreements, there had been 
only one sowreignty-that of the Queen of the Nether
lands-and no political unit called "\Vest Iri;m": 
whereas since the. conclusion of those agreements there 
harl heen two sm·ereignties. that of the Nether lands, 
and that of Inrlonesi<t, comprising the whole of what 
had formerly been the Nether lands East T ndies. 

35. A countrv need not ha \'e historical, geographical 
or ethnic ties 'vith all its constituent parts in order 
to be a State. Thus, if the British Government harl not 
"''P:l''<ttrcl Aden from Tndi'l in ]Q.~~- :mrl 11hcerl it 
under the administration of the Colonial Office, the 
S'lYCrei~ntv m·er Aclen. which constitutionally had bren 
part of the Bombay residency. would haye passed to 
T nrlia. despite the heterogeneity of the ethnic. linguistic 
anrl geor:raphical hctors. Similarly. in the case of 
T nclonesia. the snwreignty of the' Qut:'rn of the Nether
bncls ow·r an entire territorY 3 .. 000 miles in extent had 
heen transferrC'd, and a reservation had been made only 
with regarcl to the administration of \Vest Irian. In 
effect, a clistinction h1d been made betwt:>en a State 
:mel its gowrnment: the State had been transferred, 
ht1t ;m element nf arlministration. in other words. a 
form of possession, had remained, without conferring 
legal authority over the territory. 

36. The Netherlands representative had contended 
th~t the ,·:orcl "complete", in article 1 of the Charter 
of transfer of sowreignty, referred to the word 
"sovereignty" and not to the word "Indonesia". That 
wC\s true, but the question was the meaning of "sover
< i f'!"lltv''. f t must me' an snYereignty not over part but 
over the whole of Indonesia. 

37. Tt hac! been contended that the General Assembly 
was not competent to interpret treaties or to act as 
a iudiciC~l body. That was equally true; but the provi
siom; of the Charter of transfer of sovereignty were 
merely part of the <:'vidence in a political dispute. 

38. Setting aside the question of sovereignty, it was 
admitted in article 2 of the Charter of transfer that 
\Y e~t T rian w<~ ~ thl' subject of a rlisputt:>-a rlispute 
rccorderl in a tn·ah· for which the United Nations was 
respomible. The United Nations 'vas therefore brJUncl 
to u~c the method~ of conciliation and to inrlnce the 
parties to lh'P,''>tiatc. Thus. from 1h:Jt point of view. 
both the partie's. e1s lnnl 1\lemhcrs of the United NC!-
1 iom h;Hl ;1 ~reecl~~a( lt:>ast by implication~---thC~t the 
1Tnitetl l\Tation~ ~hrmlrl cxaminP the rnwstion. Conse
r:w·nth·. ncr-otia~;ons ,,-oulrl not he> fnll~\':crl hy cnnflict. 

39. Tn common with Australia which, it was to be 
hnrwd, \You!rl reconsider its ar!'!;t1lnents. approach and 
ontJo,,k as a ,._-hole, 1ndie! was especially concerned that 
PxkcJal comnlications should not arise in that part 
nf the "-o,·lcl iust when one war C~gainst a colonial 
Power hat! Cill"Ot:' to an cnrL That was another reason 
why the pacific intcrwntion of the United Nations was 
cksirablc. Furthermore. article 2 (f) of the Charter of 
transfer of sovereignty bound the parties to resolve 
•11-·ir c':r·,·;-.,.J:r·es hv p<:a<'t·ful Ple;ms. T~ iYC\S ,,.,1e th:1t 
a onc-vear time-limit had been fixed, but that had 
nvTel); been the expression of a hope; negotiations 
,,-.,u1d h:n·e J.o rrmtinue until the "·hole fJ_uestion of the 
transLT nf soyercignty was settled. Furthermort:>, it 
'honld not he {orgntten that the Uniterl Nations had 
h;" 1 a ~pecial interest in that internationC~l tre<tty from 
1~w nnts•:t. :mrl was thcrt>fore bnund to congratul<tte 
Indonesia on having chosen the method of pacific 
settlement. 

40. \Vith regard to article 2 of the Charter of transfer 
of sovereignty, the only question reserved had been 
that of the political status of New Guinea. If sover
eignty had been of paramount importance, that charter 
\\:ould surely haw specified th<tt the transfer of sover
c 1gnty applied only to the other territories. Further
more, under article 1, paragraph 2, of the Charter 
of transfer, Indonesia had accepted that sovereignty 
on the bC~sis of the provisions of its Constitution, in 
which there was no reference to the fact that West 
Irian was to be outside the sovereignty of Indonesia. 
The legal tTidence. in short, ga\'e no support to the 
idea that the transfer of sovereignty, the completion 
of which had been promised, would entail any reserya
tion \1·ith regard to \\'est Irian. Tn other words, the 
Netherlands, when its sovereignty over Indonesia had 
come to an end, had not partitioned Indonesia. as India 
had been partitioned: therefore the absorption of West 
Irian into the Kingdom of the Nether lands was ttltra 
<•ires in respect of the Round Table Conference agree
ments. and therefore unconstitutionaL Thus the only 
legal feature of that action was its purely administrative 
aspect, just as the British Crown retained govern
mental and administrative authority in Tanganyika 
without exercising sovereignty there. 

-1-1. Geographical, historical, ethnic and linguistic argu
ments had also been adyanced to prove that the people 
of Sumatra, for example, were remote from the people 
of \Vest Irian. But ewrything was relative; it could 
scarcely be maintained that the N rtherlands was geo
graphically nearer to \Vest Irian than Indonesia was. 

42. Reference had been made to the sultanate in an 
endeayour to show that \Vest Irian had no historical 
conne:xion with Indonesia. It could also have been re
called that West Irian had been settled by people from 
Southern India. and that between the thirteenth and 
sixteenth centuries it had formed p<trt of the Empire 
of the Indies. The salient fact, however, was that, until 
1940. or thereabouts, \Vest Irian hC~d not ewn consti
tuted <t separate residency. but had formed two districts 
of the residency of the Moluccas; in other words. it had 
been a subdivision of a State which was now part of 
Indonesia. 

43. Ethnological arguments were probably somewhat 
pointless, and might well embarrass some of the oldest 
nations. which would find it hard to base their nation
ality on ethnic ties. But \Vest Irian and Indonesia 
had much more in common than had been admitted in 
the Committee. Moreover, the fact that certain peoples 
in the interior of a State were less advanced than 
others did not mean that they should remain isolated 
from the rest of the community. 

44. Lastly. leaying aside the linguistic problem, some 
delegations harl found it necessary to adyance a stra
tegic and political argument. It was doubtless customary 
to regard certain parts of Asia as indispensable to the 
conmmnication~ of empires or the pl·otcction of trade 
routes. Dut strategic considerations were no more valid 
as a bar to the completion of Indonesian independence 
than as a reason for holding territories like Suez. More
owr, it was a ~wry poor argument to say that if certain 
territories were held by Indonesia, a loyal Member of 
the United Nations. to which it had submitted the 
J•:·c:,ent qucsJ·ion. th~t l'·oukl cnnstitntc a political ot· 
:>trategic danger to another country. Mr. i\fenon would 
not probe that argument any further, in view of his 
delegation's wry close relations with the two or three 
delegations which had advanced it. The doctrine that 



440 General Assembly - Ninth session - First Committee 

imperial strategy was more important than the welfare 
of a population was untenable. The Netherlands, of 
course, had economic interests which it would be rea
E:>onable to protect by a neg-otiated agreement. That, how
ever, was a matter for arrangement between the Indo
nesian and Nether lands peoples. The United Kingdom 
and India had already benefited economically by the 
change in their political relationship; that would be 
the experience of any European empire which took 
note of the si,gns of the times and made wav for a 
fraternal association. That was the process which had 
been set in motion in Indonesia, to the greater benefit 
of the peoples concerned. 
45. The Australian representative had claimed that 
under another authority the inhabitants of West Irian 
would lose all hope of becoming civilized. But no one 
should forget the aboriginal population of Australia, 
which had shrunk from 300,000 or 400.000 to 50,000, 
or the bloody conquest of the Banda Islands, which 
revealed an aspect of Netherlands colonial history that 
belonged to the past. 
46. In the final analysis, the Nether lands position was 
based exclusively on colonial conquest, which had fol
lowed upon the arrival of the merchants. Fortunately, 
new legal concepts had reduced the dispute over colo
nialism from one of physical violence to one of argu
ment, in which each should be allowed to have his say 
in full knowledge of the facts. 

47. The Australian representative had said that the 
people had continued to prosper under Nether lands rule. 
It was true that European pioneers, administrators, 
missionaries and statesmen had suffered and struggled 
in Indonesia, as in the other colonies of Asia and 
Africa, in the service of the indigenous populations. 
But that was only one side of the picture. The fact was 
that in Indonesia, which before its independence had 
had no university, 88,230 primary schools, 8,235 
secondary schools and a total of 1.879,000 pupils, there 
were now seven universities, 26,670 secondary schools 
and neraly S million pupils. It was onlv when the 
people had the power that thev prog-ressed, :mel the 
example of Indonesia did not substantiate the assertion 
that the completion of the transfer of sovereignty 
initiated by the Charter of transfer would spell a period 
of darkness for West Irian. 
48. The problem was one that could be solved only 
by negotiation and not hy domination; and the same 
was true of the aggregate economic interests of the two 
countries. Nether lands investments in Indonesia itself 
were considerable, and it was naturallv in the interests 
of the Dutch that the Indonesians shO'uld turn to them 
for equipment and technical assistance under friendly 
conditions. The United Nations, which had a special 
responsibility in the matter, ought to bring about a 
state of fraternity in place of conflict. The independence 
of Indonesia had not come as a vo1untarv move; it 
had cnme under the pr"ssure of a national· movement. 
and after wiser cnunsels had prevailed. No one could 
desire the conflict to he reopened, when so little re
mained to be done to complete the victory of free
dom. 
49. Arguments had been advanced concerning Aus
tralian security, or that other security to which the 
Philippine representatiw had referred, as well as the 
argument that the Indonesian Government would be 
less friendly towards the people of West Irian and less 
capable of looking after them. But such arguments 
should be set aside and attention given only to the 

agreements, to what was morally correct, to nationa 
freedom, and to the aspirations and the future of th 
peoples themselves. 

50. From the point of view of friendship between th 
Asian and non-Asian peoples of that part of th 
world, it was to be regretted that Australia had not bee1 
able to follow the policy that had led it to bring th 
Indonesian question before the Security Council. Th 
future of that part of the world lay in collaboratio1 
and in mutual understanding, and not in the fact tha 
certain territories were occupied by European races fo 
the purpose of establishing empires, exploding bomb~ 
or halting some real or imaginary aggression. In th 
present case, given goodwill and the moral support o 
the General Assembly, the two parties should be abl 
to get together and establish some relationship on 1 

new basis. 
51. It had been argued, on behalf of the Netherland~ 
that whatever agreement there had been with the Re 
rnhlic of the United States of Indonesia had been can 
celled by the changes in the Constitution of Indonesia 
But the new republic had inherited the rights an 
obligations of the old. In the same way, the Republi 
of India, another succession State, could not repudiat 
the obligations previously undertaken by the Britisl 
Government. The treaty had been concluded with In 
donesia; the expression "United States of Indonesia 
had been merely the name of one of the parties, whos 
character could change by constitutional processes with 
out altering the situation. 
52. The Indian delegation had no doubt said thing 
which would not meet with the Netherlands de leg-a 
tion's agreement, but it appealed to the Netherland 
deleg-ation to acknowledge that the curtain had bee 
drawn on a great part of history. Queen Wilhelmin 
herself had remarked that her people had to look to th 
future in a different set of circumstances. 
53. That was the spirit in which the Indian delega 
tion commended the Indonesian draft resolution (A 
C.l/L.l09) to the First Committee. 

54. Sir Percy SPENDER (Australia) said that in hi 
opinion the speakers who had made statements on th 
matter before the Committee fell into two categories 
those who had approached the matter objectively an 
had decided on the merits of the case to support eithe 
the Netherlands point of view or that of Indonesia 
and those who had approached it subjcctiyely, failing t 
~ee the truth of the matter because of their obsessio 
with colonial issues. 

55. The Indian representative had stated in his speec· 
that the problem was a colonial one. It should be sai 
again that to put the dispute in that light was to dodg 
the real issue. Moreover, the Indian representative ha 
interpreted after his own fashion certain arguments pt: 
forward by the Australian delegation. He had asserte 
that the Australian delegation had raised the strategi 
issue and had declared its support of Nether lands sover 
eignty for that reason. It was worth repeating that i· 
fact Australia had merely said that the security of Aus 
tralia and the security of New Guinea were indivisibh 
and that it therefore had a continuing interest that tha 
area should remain stable and secure, both under pre 
sent arrangements and when the people o New Gt1ine. 
were ready to work out their own destiny. 

56. Mr. Menon had also attributed to the Australia 
representative a statement that the people of We> 
New Guinea would be better off under Nether land 



733rd meeting - 29 November 1954 441 

than under Indonesian rule. Sir Percy had made no 
such statement, as was demonstrated by the record of 
his speech (727th meeting). 

57. Unfortunately, some delegations had attempted to 
present the problem raised by Indonesia as a colonial 
issue in order to create confusion and to introduce 
prejudice and antipathies. West New Guinea, how
ever, was not at all a colonial issue in the obsolete 
sense of that term. The discussion would be greatly 
assisted if the situation were dealt with as it was in 
fact. 

58. It was also questionable to what extent the 
Committee had gained from the presentation of the case 
from the legal point of view. The idea of a transfer of 
sovereignty de jure had been put forward by 
Indonesia and opposed by the Netherlands. The Com
mittee's consideration of the legal aspect had led no
where, because those supporting Indonesia's case had 
been unable to say at what precise moment and by what 
procedure the transfer had taken place. The date of the 
Linggadjati Agreement, 1947, had been mentioned, and 
also 1948, the date of the Renville Agreement. Then 
article 1 of the Charter of transfer of sovereignty had 
been quoted as expressly giving effect to such a 
transfer. Finally, it had been said that article 2 of 
that charter had not concerned the issue of sover
eignty, and that in any case, after the expiry of the 
one-year period provided for in that article, sover
eignty de jure was to pass to Indonesia. 

59. But when considering the transfer of sowr
eignty over a very large territory, one's position could 
not be based on possible interpretations at different 
times of the geographical or political meaning of the 
word "Indonesia". With reference to that problem 
of geography, the Indonesian representative had cited 
various political documents of Netherlands origin in 
which the word "Indonesia" had been used with a 
loosely defined political meaning. The documents cited 
had certainly been in no way intended to define terri
torial boundaries. 

60. The Committee could not be requested to give 
an opinion, either by a majority vote or by any other 
means, except upon purely political grounds. More
over, it was quite clear that, from the legal or consti
tutional standpoint, Indonesia had as yet proved nothing-. 
On the contrary. the Netherlands interpretation of the 
articles of the Charter of transfer of sovereignty \\>as 
clearly reasonable and in accordance with what was 
known of the intentions of the parties at the time of 
the Round Table Conference. That, hmvever. was not 
the point; the problem was really a purely political one. 

61. In his statement at the 731st meeting, the Indo
nesian representative had stated that he would not ask 
the First Committee to take a legal decision or to 
accept the argument that his country had sovereignty 
de jure over West New Guinea. But that claim was 
the sole and essential basis of the Indonesian legal 
argument, as originally put forward. What the Indo
nesian representative was now asking was that the 
Assembly should recognize the existence of a dispute 
between his country and the Netherlands, a dispute 
arising from the failure of the negotiations under
taken in virtue of article 2 of the Charter of transfer 
of sovereignty. That admission revealed Indonesia's 
lack of confidence in the legal argument of the transfer 
of sovereignty de jure. 

62. That admission also showed that, doubtless by an 
unconscious process, the word "dispute" had acquired 
two meanings in the present case. Ostensibly the 
Assembly was being asked to deal with a dispute be
tween two parties to an agreement over the interpreta
tion of certain provisions of that agreement. Under 
those provisions, negotiations had been held and had 
failed. In that sense, the dispute remained. But that 
was not the real dispute. The Committee was now faced 
with a new situation. There was no question of resum
ing the previous negotiations. On the expiry of the 
prescribed one-year period, the United Nations perhaps 
properly, perhaps not, could have been asked to assist 
the parties to continue their negotiations. That proce
dure had not been used, and the negotiations had ended. 
Indonesia was actually asking for something on a new 
footing altogether: it wanted the Assembly to take note 
of a dispute between the Nether lands and Indonesia, 
and not merely to take note but to take measures. 
That did not mean simply a resumption of the nego
tiations on the basis of the Round Table Conference 
agreements: it meant, in effect, that the United Nations 
was to endorse Indonesia's claim to the territory of 
another State. That claim of Indonesia's. however, was 
supported only by its repeated assertion that West 
Irian was an integral part of Indonesia. Such claims 
were not legal but political. 

63. If the General Assembly adopted the Indonesian 
draft resolution on the basis of such arguments. it 
would, in effect, open the door to any claim put fonvard 
by one nation against another as a means of obliging the 
latter to open negotiations whether there was a valid 
reason for doing so or not. 

64. The Indonesia representative, of course, claimed 
only to be asking the Assembly to endorse the idea of 
negotiations by a purely procedural decision. But in 
vie\\· of the st;cmcl v·hich both sides had taken on the 
question of \Vest New Guinea, it was completely 
absurd even to envisage the idea of negotiations be
tween T ndonesia and the Netherlands. Either the real 
purpose of Indonesia's claim was the transfer of ter
ritory and people, or the aim was to open negotiations 
concerned not with such a transfer but purely with the 
future and welfare of the people of \Vest New Guinea. 

65. The Netherlands Government had made perfectly 
plain its determination to hold that territory. the sover
eignty over which it had never ceded. Indonesia, on 
the other hand, had constantly proclaimed that that 
territory was part of Indonesia. Plainly no negotiations 
were possible in such circumstances. Indeed, if the 
General Assembly endorsed the idea of negotiations, 
it would in effect be exerting pressure upon the Nether
lands to relinquish its sovereignty over West New 
Guinea and allow Indonesia to pursue its political 
purpose. That would create a dangerous precedent 
which might in future work to the disadvantage of 
those who were now supporting it. 

66. The Indonesian representative had twice stated 
that if the General Assembly did not endorse his 
request for renewed negotiations, his country would 
have to consider the alternatives. It was considerations 
of that kind which had led the Australian delegation 
to say that the Committee was faced with an essen
tially new situation. The question was no longer one 
of resuming negotiations where they had been left off, 
but of transferring the territory of West New Guinea 
to Indonesia. In considering Indonesia's request, 
therefore, it was the General Assembly's responsibility 



442 General Assembly - Ninth session - First Committee 

to ensure that the functions which it had been asked 
to exercise not only fitted the circumstances but also 
adequately expressed the legitimate interests of the 
United Nations-which the draft resolution did not do. 

67. The delegations of the N etherlamls, Australia and 
other countries had sought to focus the Committee's 
concern on the interests of the inhabitants of \Vest 
New Guinea and on 'Nhat would happen to them ulti
mately if the Assembly adopted the Indonesian draft 
resolution. At the 731st meeting, the Indonesian repre
s~ntative had said that the Nether lands had not pre
vwusly spoken about self-determination for the people 
o.f West New Guinea. He had also said that that prin
~tpl~ had. already been applied in the territory, since 
tts .mh~bttants had allegedly taken part in the Indo
nestan mdependence mowment. Enough had been said 
on that point to show that such an assertion was quite 
fictitious. 

68. It had also been claimed that the administering 
~owe;s did not haYe the interests of the peoples 
m thetr charge at heart, and therefore did not encourage 
then to attain self-government. It had even been argu~d 
that the colonial governments were responsible for all 
the ills from which their charges suffered. Those argu
ments were, to say the least, na'ive and unfair. The 
colonial Powcrs submitted detailed reports to the United 
Nations; international visiting missions were sent to 
those territories by the Trusteeship Council to examine 
living conditions on the spot, and had often pair! tribute 
to the efforts made by the administering Powers. Aus
tralia, for its part, regarded its obligation to the 
people of New Guinea as a great trust, which it had 
endeavoured to discharge worthily. Sir Percy Spender 
therefore formally rejected such allegations. It was 
equally inaccurate to say that the present was the first 
time that the political aspirations of the people of the 
territory had been recognized bv the N etherlamls. Of
ficial statements on that subject. had been made by the 
Netherlands Government long before the matter had 
come before the United Nations. 

69. ~t was true, on the other hand, that the present 
occaswn was the first, apart from the proceedings of 
the Fourth Committee, on which the problem o'f the 
political development and aspirations of that people 
had been brought to the specific attention of the General 
Assembly. The Indonesian Gowrnment had probably 
not foreseen such an outcome. The question of the 
ultimate interests of the people was now before the 
General Assembly, ami Indonesia could not nreyent 
the General Assembly from dealing with it. The As
sembly should be sure that its decisions would not in 
any _way _jeopa~diz~ the future rights of that people, 
for, 111 sptte of tts mnocent appearance, the Indonesian 
draft resolution involved the future of a million human 
beings. 

70. The very terms of the draft resolution before the 
Committee would mean that 1 hr Gene•·al A.ssenh1Y. i [ 
it adopted it. had concluded that the transfer of sover
eignty over \Vest New Guinea was justified on political 
grounds, and that the Netherlands and Indonesia should 
resume negotiations in order to arri,·e at an ao-ree
ment to that effect. Thus, what Indonesia was a~.,:ing 
was that the Assembly should pa~s a political judgment 
based solely on Indonesia's assertion that \Vest~ New 
Guinea belonged to it. 

71. .If the draft resolution was based on legal consi
deratiOns, the Assembly would be assuming the respon-

sibility of interpreting a treaty-which \Yas not withi1 
its competence at all. 
72. If, as the Australian delegation hoped. the predo 
minant consideration \vas to be the welfare of th 
peoples of New Guinea, their future and their right t• 
work out their destiny, then the draft resolution ra1 
completely counter to such ideas. 
73. Mr. VON BALLUSECK (Netherlands) regret 
ted that the Indonesian representative had seen fi 
to discourse on a number of subjects which had n< 
relation to the present issue but were intended only t' 
appeal to certain well-known sentiments and prejudice~ 
74. The only releyant issue \vas whether Nether land 
sowreignty owr \Vest N e\v Guinea had or had not bee1 
transferred to the Republic of the lTnited State~ of In 
d0nesia under de Round Table Conference agreement 
of 1949 \\'est New Guinea had been excluded from tha 
general transfer of soyereig-nty, and there had been n< 
stipulation whatever in the Charter uf transfer of srJVcr 
eignty that the Netherlands soven'i.~ntv should ce:1se i 
the negotiations provided fOr in th;lt chartE'r \Vere 110 

success£ ul. The Indonesian representative had aclmitte1 
as much when ht' had said at the 726th meeting tha 
it had been agreed at the Round Table Conference tha 
n~ change in the existing status could be brought abou 
wtthout the consmt of both parties. 
75. The difference between the treatment of \Ves 
New Guinea and that of the tnritories composin: 
what was now the Republic of Indonesia had not bee1 
a sudden and recent invention of the Nether land 
Government. As early as ] 946, at the time of the Ling 
gadiati Agreement, the Nether lands Gowrnment ha1 
made the explicit reservation that New Guinea shoul1 
obtain a special status in its relationship with Indo 
nesia aml the Nether lands. The Linggacl j ati Agreemen 
had referred to an exchange of letters in \vhich th 
Nether lands Go\·ernmmt had expressed the desir 
that New Guinea should obtain a separate status o 
its own, within the meaning of articles 3 and 4 o 
that agreement. 
76. The Rcm•il!c Agreement of 1948 had reaffirme1 
the Linggadjati Agreement on that point, and Mt 
Van Eoyen, one of whose statements bad been quote< 
sewral times in the First Committee, had said in an 
other, less often quoterl part of the same statement 
that the Nether lands would stand by the political prin 
ciples that it had accepted in the Linggadjati and Rcn 
<•il!e agreements. ' · 

77. ·when the agenda for the Round Table Confereno 
of 1949 ~ad been drawn up, it had been agreed tha 
the questiOn of New Guinea should form a separat• 
item. Far from being an unexpected deviation. th 
Netherlands present attitude was v;hat it had alwav 
been. It was tht"rdore clear that the Round Tab], 
Conference agreements had not altered the status !Jlf• 
of \Vest New Guinea, in other \\·orcls, Netherland 
sowreignty owr that territory. 
78. An example of the errors in the sometimes reck 
lessly conceiwd statement of the Indonesian repre 
sentatiw \Yas t!w remar\;: that the N ctherlanrls Gowrn 
ment had incorporated the territory of \Vest Irian in it: 
Cnnstitution as a p~1.rt of the Kingdom of the Nether 
lands. The fact was that the N etherlancls Constitution 
as revised in ] 948. had mentioned Indonesia as one o 
the parts of the realm. \\'hen the Unite(! States n 
I ndrmesia had becon1e :111 ind,·]wnrlent Stak, it ha( 
seemed logical to the N dhnlanrls Goyernment that th' 
term "Indonesia" should he replaced by the name nf th1 



733rd meeting - 29 November 1954 443 

mly terri lory in "\sia left under Netherlands sovereign
y. namely, N etlwrlands New Guinea. Accordingly, the 
~nn-rnmcnt had submitted to Parliament a bill contain
ng a draft constitutional amendment to that effect. 
~'hat bill had been rejected for reasons related to an
'ther constitutional amendment which it had contained. 
~hus, what had been represented as a unilateral attempt 
o absorb \Vest New Guinea, had in fact been merely 
n attempt to exclude Indonesia from the parts of the 
calm mentioned in the Nether lands Constitution. Such 
n accusation came rather strangely from Indonesia, 
dwsc Gowrnment, six months after the Charter of 
ransfer of soyereignty had come into force, and even 
c·fore the preliminary negotiations on the status of \Vest 
~ nv Guinea had taken place, had stated in the explana
Dn' nwmorandmn to its new unitarv constitution that 
\' ~st N C\\' Guinea was part of Indonesia. 

9. \Vith regard to the official Netherlands reports on 
he state of \Vest New Guinea which the Indonesian 
eprcscntati \'e had seen fit to usc in order to demons
raiL the administratiw incapacity of the Nether lands, 
,nc had been an inter-departmental report established 
or the purpose of advising the Netherlands Govern-
1ent on how to adapt its administration in N cw Guinea 
:; the standards \vorked out by the General Assembly 
,n the- basis of the United Nations Charter. The fact 
int the N etherlancls Government had decided to pub
~h that report in order to place the problem squarely 
dore public and parliamentary opinion was f'vidence 
f the democratic character of its administration. Thus 
1ublic criticism had bt:>l'n itwitC'd so that the people of 
~ ew Guint:>a might benefit by the suggested improve
'1ents. The second repurt mentioned, which had been 
'ublished in 195·~. had been drafted by a parliamentary 
:1ission consisting of representatives of the various 
,o]itical parties. There again a contribution had been 
1ade to an intelligent public and parliamentary exami
ation of the problem. That report would be discussed 
'Y the N ctherlanrls Parliament during its current ses
ion, together \Vith a th;ee-year development plan drawn 
p on the basis of that report. 

0. It had ewn been said that little had been achieved 
nder Nether lands rule. That criticism was somewhat 
1nb.ir in yiew of the fact that the pace of develor,
lent throughout the world had been much quicker dur-
1g the preceding ten years than during the three 
cnturies that had gone before. The Nether lands Gov
rnmenfs annual reports to the United Nations bore 
ritness to the fact that its endeavours had been geared 
J that c\·olution. It was useful to note in passing that, 
uring the five years of the existence of independent 
nclonesia, it had not been possible to hold free parlia-
1cntary elections there. 

1. Lastly. 1\Ir. yon Dalluseck \\·as authorized by his 
~owrnmcnt to state that, contrary to what the Indo
esian representatiye had asserted, there was no legal 
,royision in Nether lands New Guinea forbidding any
ne to listf'n to broadcasts from the Indonesian broad
asting station at Djakarta, or any other station. 
~. "1\Ir. Sudjanyo and other representatives, while 
lt]nnin2" that the Netherlands had contended that 
n(lrmes'i'a must prove that it had linguistic, zoological, 
otanical, geological and anthropological ties with West 
J cw Guinea in order to substantiate its claim, had also 
rgued that, if it wished its views to prevail, the 
J etherlands would haYe to prove that New Guinea had 
1 all those respects a closer affinity with the Nether
mds than with Indonesia. That was merely an attempt 

to turn the argument upside down. The Netherlands 
had newr contended that \Vest New Guinea formed 
a natural part of its country. On the contrary, it was 
Indonesia that claimed natural ties with West New 
Guinea. It was therefore incumbent upon Indonesia 
to prove its contention, which for very good reasons 
it had been unable to do. 

83. Laying stress on the ties created by the Nether
lands administration between Indonesia and West New 
Guinea, a number of speakers had referred to a com
munity of expcrience which had grown into social and 
political unity. No such community had ever existed. 
The Indonesians had always considered themselves 
vastly supt:>rior to the Papuans. Indeed, there were 
none of the traditional criteria, such as unity of ter
ritory, ethnic origin, custom or language, which might 
have produced in the Papuans a feeling of community 
with Indonesia. Instead of a community of interests, 
there was rather a conflict of interests between the 
two groups. It was not, therefore, surprising that it 
should have been Indonesia which had unilaterally 
proclaimed the unity of Indonesia and ·west New Gui
nea, but that criterion revealed a somewhat fascist 
concept of nationality, of the nation being created 
by the State. Furthermore, on 2 September 1953, the 
Indonesian Government had confirmed its refusal to 
allow the population of \Vest New Guinea to decide 
its own fate. In reply to a question put by a member 
of the provisional Indonesian Parliament, the Gov
ernment had replied that it did not agree with the 
remark made by the member that the Republic of 
Indonesia should preyiously consult the' population of 
\Yest Irian as to whether it was really prepared to 
accept association with Indonesia. 

84. That disregard for freedom of choice was nothing 
new in the attitude of the Indonesian Government. 
Thus, when in the summer of 1950 the federal Republic 
of the United States of Indonesia had been converted 
into the unitary Republic of Indonesia, the Indonesian 
Government had destroyed the special right of choice 
of the component States. That measure had. moreover, 
led to serious difficulties, which had not yet been over
come. The revolt in the South Moluccas in 1950, and 
that in Atjch, in North Sumatra, in 1953, had been 
the direct results of Indonesian policy. It was therefore 
not surprising that public opinion in the Nether lands, 
with the sole exception of the Communists, shared its 
Government's opinion that a transfer of sovereignty 
over 'Nest Guinea would mean that any possibility of 
self-determination for the population of ·west New 
Guinea would be sacrified forever. 

85. The Indonesian draft resolution (A/C.1/L.l09) 
was so worded as to avoid that crucial issue and create 
an impression of moderation. In fact, Indonesia wished 
to obtain the transfer of sovereignty over the territory, 
which it coveted, without any preliminary consultation 
of the people of the territory. 

86. The debate had brought out fundamental differ
ences of conception between the Nether lands and Indo
nesia concerning the rights and interests of the in
habitants of \Vest New Guinea. The differences were 
irreconcilable and the Nether lands Government was 
therefore no longer prepared to continue negotiations 
with Indonesia on the problem. The best contribution 
the United Nations could make in that respect would 
bt:> to show wise restraint, while continuing to demons
trate its interests in the development of West New 
Guinea in accordance with Chapter XI of the Charter. 



444 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

87. In that connexion, the Netherlands Government, 
which submitted an annual report to the Secretary
General in accordance with Article 73 e of the Charter, 
of its own accord included political information in that 
report, and was prepared to continue to do so. The fact 
that the Nether lands, as the administering Power, com
municated detailed information on the political, econo-

Printed in Canada 

mic, social and cultural development of West New 
Guinea of its own accord, confirmed the earnest inten
tion of the Nether lands to enable the people of the 
territory to complete as rapidly as possible the succes
sive stages leading to maturity, when it would be able 
freely to choose its place in the world. 

The meeting rose at 6.35 p.m. 

A--41889-March 1955-1,95( 


